THE BULLETIN OF THE NEEDLE AND BOBBIN CLUB
VOLUME 33 NUMBERS 1 & 2
1949
THE BULLETIN OF
THE NEEDLE AND BOBBIN
CLUB

VOLUME 33       1949       NUMBERS 1 & 2

CONTENTS

PAGE

Some Pattern Sources of 18th and 19th Century Printed Cottons........... 3
NANCY GRAVES CABOT

A Series of War Embroideries.......................................................... 23
LOIS K. WILLIAMS

Swiss Lace Patterns from material collected by................................. 28
GERTRUDE WHITING

Club Notes.......................................................................................... 42

List of Officers.................................................................................... 44

Copyright, 1950, by the Needle and Bobbin Club.
SOME PATTERN SOURCES

of

18th AND 19th CENTURY PRINTED COTTONS

By Nancy Graves Cabot

Much has been written of the toiles de Jouy and similar patterned fabrics produced throughout France, England, and other countries, in the 18th and early 19th centuries. Their manufacture and styles have been dealt with so exhaustively by such writers as Henri Clouzet, E. Depêtre, H. R. d'Allemagne, R. Forrer, MacIver Percival, and countless others in magazines of art, that it seems as if the last word on the subject had been said. The study of the sources of their patterns, however, has not been pursued with equal thoroughness, and the writer offers the results of a preliminary research as proof that here is a field of inquiry, still fertile for exploration.

From the beginnings of the industry in France at the end of the 17th century, competitive effort of manufacturers was to imitate as closely as possible, by the more expeditious process of block printing, the exotic painted and dyed cottons from India. Original designers were not needed; skillful engravers could copy and adapt the patterns of imported models, and a practice of borrowing from the inventions of others began, which persisted even when the taste for oriental designs had turned to the more elaborate pastoral and genre themes of the 18th century.*

As the floral styles of the earlier cottons developed into the figured subjects of European inspiration, designers turned for models to engravings, from which they selected ready-made motifs that could be assembled into decorative compositions. Indeed, that this practice was universal in all branches of the decorative arts is indicated by the many articles published in recent years showing engraving matched to pattern in the field of porcelains, enamels, pewter and embroideries, as

*In the Museum of Fine Arts, Boston, Mass., there is a fragment of painted cotton, Indian, 18th century (27,800), and a dress made of cotton printed from wood-blocks, French, 18th century, (Elizabeth Day MacCormick collection, 43.1619). Gertrude Townsend, Curator of Textiles, has recognized that the design of the wood-block print was copied with but a few variations and modifications from the Indian painted cotton.
well as printed cottons. In a day when free appropriation of the artistic inventions of others bore no odium of piracy, the refinement of copyright having yet to be conceived, this was a practical and economical way of making up a design, particularly one involving human figures and animals. Engravings — and the supply was vast — formed a great unbound pattern-book for the decorative arts. Posterity was thereby handed the tantalizing problem of the identification of sources.

Where it was the custom for elements from varied sources to be combined into a pattern for a toile, it is not surprising that the names of few original designers have come down to us. It is significant that Henri Clouzot, in his examination of the record books of the manufactories of toiles in France, found long lists of engravers, but few references to artists. At Oberkampf's factory at Jouy, over a period of many years, only two or three designers were referred to as such: Louis Perrenond, Mlle. Jouanon, a flower painter, and one Peter called "le plus fécond, le plus inventif, le plus habile des dessinateurs de Jouy."** Despite the listing of these particular workers, the writer has never seen toile de Jouy patterns specified as their actual designs. It was not until after 1783, when the painter Jean Baptiste Huet was engaged by Oberkampf to be his chief designer at Jouy, that the patterns of their famous fabrics acquired the distinction of accredited authorship. From then, until his death in 1811, Huet designed cartoons for the large copperplate compositions printed in monotone on furnishing fabrics which brought renown to his employer and lasting fame to himself.

The exact number of toile patterns attributable to Huet has not been determined. In the Musée de l'Union centrale des Arts décoratifs, in Paris, is a large collection of cartoons, the gift of M. Barbet, descendant of the last director of the Oberkampf factory. Many of them were published by the Libraire des Arts décoratifs, with the sub-title, Recueil de Dessins, composés par J. B. Huet, pour la Manufacture de toiles peintes, fondée par Oberkampf, à Jouy-en-Josas, près de Versailles.† Various of the designs attributed in this work to Huet, are assigned by Clouzot to "un artiste inconnu, de bien moindre talent," amongst them La Pêche maritime, La Kermesse flamande, Le Ballon de Gonesse and

† La Décoration au XVIIIe Siècle, Recueil de Dessins, composés par J. B. Huet, pour la Manufacture de toiles peintes, fondée par Oberkampf, à Jouy-en-Josas, près de Versailles, Librairie des Arts Décoratifs, A. Calavas, Editeur, 68 rue Lafayette. Paris (n.d.)
Les Plaisirs villageois.‡ Is it not likely that the "artiste inconnu" was merely one, or even several, of the many engravers working at Jouy contemporaneously with Huet, but lacking the genius of the latter to organize the borrowed elements into masterpieces of integrated design? In La Pêche maritime are figures recognizable in engravings after Nicholas Berchem and C. J. Vernet (Plate 4); in La Kermesse flamande there are borrowings from Rubens, Teniers, and Berchem (Plate 5); in Le Ballon de Gonesse many of the figures are those found in contemporary popular prints of the first balloon ascensions (Plate 6), and in Les Plaisirs villageois are adaptations from Berchem, P. Wouverman, Watteau, Boucher, Lancret, and Moreau le Jeune (Plate 7).

Both Clouzot and the Libraire des Arts décoratifs are in agreement that Les Délices des Quatre Saisons, Au Loup, Les Occupations villageoises, and Le Meunier, son Fils et l'Ane, are unquestionably by Huet’s hand. It will be seen by comparison with the accompanying engravings that Huet likewise borrowed figures and animals from other artists to incorporate into his compositions. Sometimes he copied them with slight alteration, at other times, by change of dress and refinement of gesture, he translated figures from 17th century prints into an 18th century mood. In Les Occupations villageoises he has combined elements from Berchem, Wouverman and Boucher (Plates 13 and 14). In both Les Délices des Quatre Saisons (Frontispiece and Plates 9 and 10) and Au Loup (Plates 11 and 12) he adapted figures from five of the sixteen charming rural scenes of Jacques Stella’s Pastorales, published in Paris, 1667. For Le Meunier, son Fils et l'Ane (Plates 15 and 16) he found material to his hand in Jean Baptiste Oudry’s illustrations of the subject in La Fontaine’s Fables Choisis, Paris, 1755. But from whatever source the motifs in his patterns derived, his unrivalled ingenuity and matchless skill in design soon made them his own in the famous toiles that bear his name, whose popularity has withstood the fickle winds of fashion for nearly two hundred years.

Much work is waiting to be done in identifying sources in the graphic arts, of others of these figures in these as well as in other toiles. The writer has been preoccupied with animal and figure motifs only, but ventures to suggest that many of the arabesques, trophies and garlands may be found in engraved work on ornament by Le Pautre, Bérain, Gillot, Watteau, Ranson, etc. The search is one that cannot fail to give interest, pleasure and satisfaction, since success is virtually assured.

‡ Clouzot Henri. op. cit. p. 37.
PLATE 1
PASTORAL SCENE. PRINTED COTTON, ENGLISH (OLD FORD), 1761.
VICTORIA & ALBERT MUSEUM CROWN COPYRIGHT.
PLATE II

THE SHEPHERD SEATED ON A FOUNTAIN. ENGRAVING BY NICOLAAS BERGHEM, 1652.
COURTESY OF THE MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS, BOSTON.
PLATE III-A
LE PETIT BUVEUR, (DETAIL) PRINTED COTTON, JOUY, ABOUT 1770. CLOUZOT, HENRI. LA TOILE PEINTE EN FRANCE; LA MANUFACTURE DE JOUY, VERSAILLES, N.D. PL. 4.

PLATE III-B
LE BUVEUR, (DETAIL) ENGRAVING BY AVELINE AFTER WATTEAU. COURTESY OF THE METROPOLITAN MUSEUM, NEW YORK.
PLATE IV
PLATE VI
LE BALLON DE GONESSE. (DETAIL) CARTOON FOR PRINTED COTTON. JOUY, ABOUT 1785. COLLECTION DE L'UNION CENTRALE DES ARTS DÉCORATIFS, PARIS. (BOTTOM) ALARME GÉNÉRALE DES HABITANTS DE GONESSE HISTOIRE AÉRONAUTIQUE.
F. L. BRUEL. PARIS, 1909.
PLATE VII-A
LES PLAISIRS VILLAGEOIS, (DETAIL) CARTOON FOR PRINTED COTTON. JOUY, ABOUT 1785. COLLECTION DE L'UNION CENTRALE DES ARTS DÉCORATIFS, PARIS.

PLATE VII-B
LES PLAISIRS DU RAIL, (DETAIL) ENGRAVING BY L. G. SCOTIN AFTER WATTEAU. COURTESY OF THE MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS, BOSTON.
PLATE VIII

(TOP) LES DIEUX DE L'OLYMPÈE. (DETAIL) CARTOON FOR PRINTED COTTON. JOUY, ABOUT 1785. COLLECTION DE L'UNION CENTRALE DES ARTS DÉCORATIFS, PARIS.
(BOTTOM) LA TERRE. (DETAIL) ENGRAVING BY C. DUPUIS AFTER L. DE BOULLONGNE. COURTESY OF THE NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY.
PLATE IX

LES DÉLICES DES QUATRE SAISONS. (DETAIL) CARTOON FOR PRINTED COTTON, DESIGNED BY JEAN-BAPTISTE HUET, JOUY, ABOUT 1785. COLLECTION DE L'UNION CENTRALE DES ARTS DÉCORATIFS, PARIS.
PLATE X
PASTORAL. NO. 6 IN THE SERIES OF "PASTORALES" DESIGNED BY JAQUES STELLA. ENGRAVED BY CLAUDINE STELLA (BOUZONNET), PARIS, 1667. COURTESY OF THE MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS, BOSTON.
PLATE XIII
LES OCCUPATIONS VILLAGEOISES, CARTOON FOR PRINTED COTTON, DESIGNED BY JEAN-BAPTISTE HUET, JOUY, ABOUT 1789.
COLLECTION DE L'UNION CENTRALE DES ARTS DÉCORATIFS, PARIS.
PLATE XV
LE MEUNIER, SON FILS ET L'ÂNE. PRINTED COTTON, DESIGNED BY JEAN-BAPTISTE HUET, JOUY, 1806. MUSÉE DE L'UNION CENTRALE DES ARTS DÉCORATIFS, PARIS.
PLATE XVI

LE MEUNIER, SON FILS ET L'ÂNE. ILLUSTRATIONS FOR THE "FABLES CHOISIES" OF LA FONTAINE, PARIS, 1755. ENGRAVINGS AFTER DESIGNS BY J. B. OUDRY.

COURTESY OF THE MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS, BOSTON.
PLATE 1
CLOUDY SKIES.

22
A SERIES OF WAR EMBROIDERIES

By Lois K. Williams

Miss Williams, who is a painter as well as a talented needlewoman, recounts, in the descriptive narrative below, the circumstances that led her to work a series of embroidered pictures based on events preceding and during the second World War. Of this series, of which there are seven pictures in all, six deal entirely with war subjects. Of these four are here shown. Measuring each approximately twenty by twenty-seven inches, these pictures are worked in fine petitpoint in wool on canvas with silk employed for some of the details. The imagination shown in the handling of the various subjects, the dramatic effect of the pictures presented and the brilliant colors in which the representation is carried out combined to attract universal attention when the series was shown in the galleries of French and Company in the Exhibition of Amateur Needlework held in the spring of 1948. They were exhibited also a few months later in The Metropolitan Museum of Art.

In the years recently that I have been interested in the subject of needlework, I have produced a number of subjects all in the petitpoint technique. In 1938, however, I designed and worked a needlepoint picture that was finally, as it happened, to lead to an entire set based on the events of the last World War. This first picture, which was destined to become the introductory number of the whole group, I called “Winter Skies.” It was worked in shades of blue, green and gray, and depicted, peacefully enough, the winter constellation above the sea with a sailing ship and a spit of land below. This was a purely imaginative creation and was not intended to become the first, or indeed any part, of a series. However, as world events tended steadily to become more ominous in their implications, the idea occurred to me to work another picture of the same size as “Winter Skies” which would symbolize the world scene as it was in the spring of 1939. This second piece, which I called “Cloudy Skies,” shows a rainbow on which are superimposed the American eagle, the British lion and the French cock. At the end, on the left is the Fascist emblem and at the right, the Nazi swastika, these two sur-
rounded by black clouds. In the heavens, over a calm sea, are the rising sun of Japan and the Chinese dragon, with the hammer and sickle of Russia in the upper left balancing the star and crescent of Turkey at the right. Below, underneath these nationalistic symbols, appear the skyline of a modern city and, in the foreground, a lurking submarine. (Plate I.)

With this picture, using as themes the tragic events in world affairs that subsequently followed, began the series that was to deal with the war. "Blitzkrieg" was started in 1949. Again the sky constitutes two-thirds of the canvas with storm tossed flags of the invaded regions straining against the clouds amidst flashes of lightning which take the form, delicately delineated, of the swastika. The American flag alone is at full mast and flying clear. Green fields, hills and a tiny farmhouse form the base (not illustrated).

The succeeding embroidery, "Scorched Earth" shows burnt ground and tanks below a dark sky in which rising columns of smoke take the form of a V displaying against a sombre ground the flags of the thirty-two countries joined to form the United Nations. On this piece, in the lower corner, is worked the date "August 1942," an inscription that forced on me the realization that it now had become necessary to indicate the months as well as the years of events. (Plate II.)

"The Target," signifying D Day, comprises half the globe with an imaginary aerial map of England and the continent; the swastika marks the location of Berlin. At the right are paratroopers descending on the Normandy coast. Overhead are planes and below is the insignia of Shaef, Supreme Headquarters flanked on the sides by a tank and a destroyer. (Plate III.)

V Day is symbolized by what I have called "Vapor Trails." Planes trailing their long lines of light fly from a blue-skied Europe with a war devastated village toward a dark Asia with the sun of Japan setting behind Fujiyama. (Plate IV.)

The final picture of the series commemorates V J Day in "The Atom Bomb." August, 1945. Its mushroom form and column broken in the center rises over the world, conspicuously the small island of Japan with its bent and sagging flag (not illustrated). With this symbol of destruction ends this series of embroideries to be succeeded, it is my greatest hope, by others designed along more peaceful and happier lines.
PLATE III
THE TARGET — D DAY.
PLATE IV
VAPOUR TRAILS—VE DAY.
SWISS LACE PATTERNS

From material collected by

Gertrude Whiting

To anyone interested in early lace-making in Europe, Italy and Flanders are the names that naturally come to mind. But while these are the countries that we associate with the creation and development of lace as we know it, small heed is ever paid to Switzerland, though this little country has been called one of the first followers of Venice. Swiss lace, moreover, which is in the main bobbin-made, has a long and continuous history. Its records run back almost as far as those of the Venetian fabric, and it possessed in 1561, which is a reasonably early date for these valued publications, a lace pattern book put together and published in its own country.\(^1\)

Yet, notwithstanding these early and favorable conditions, Switzerland occupies a minor position — if, in truth, it occupies any position at all — in lace books. The reason lies in the character of its population. In a country so diversified in nationalities as was Switzerland foreign influences were strong and as a result the lace-makers, rather than developing as did their celebrated neighbors, a distinct style of their own, in all cases followed the designs that were at hand. This militated against the creation of any native type.

The situation is set forth clearly by Mlle. Emilie Cherbuliez in the little guide that she wrote for a collection of laces in Geneva.\(^2\) In this small pamphlet, in which are illustrated the fine laces of all European countries except Switzerland, the writer says, and rather mournfully, that, properly speaking, there is no Swiss lace, that in no part of Switzerland can there be found a technique or style that might be called in-

---

1. As far as is known the first pattern books were made in Germany. The earliest dated pattern book now known is *Ein neues Modelbuch* printed in 1544 at Zwicken by Johann Schönspurger the Younger. This book is in the Metropolitan Museum of Art. What is held to be an earlier edition, and therefore the earliest book of all, is the *Fauszader Modellbuchlein*, attributed to Schönspurger because of the type and initials. This may be dated about 1535. Of the two copies existing one is in the Kunstgewerbe Museum in Leipzig and the other (incomplete) in the Museum f. Kunst u. Industrie in Vienna. Margaret Harrington Daniels, *Early Pattern Books for Lace and Embroidery*. The Bulletin of the Needle and Bobbin Club, 1933, Vol. 17, No. 2, p. 3.

digeneous to the country. At Zurich and part of eastern Switzerland, she continues, German models were followed, in the southern cantons it was Italian work that provided the inspiration, and in Neuchâtel and localities in the Jura mountains the prevailing patterns were French. Yet, despite the promiscuous character that it inevitably assumed, Swiss lace has its tradition and it has its pattern book.

In Zurich, in about 1561, there was published by Christopher Froeschauer who was a printer of this locality, a book of bobbin-made patterns called a Nüve Modelbuch. This little book, which is of no small historical interest in the story of lace pattern books, is made up of designs gathered by a lace-maker who is known only by the initials R. M. (Plate I.) Accompanying the plates is a foreword by this anonymous author, written in the most sympathetic and friendly spirit, in which she says in the very first lines that the art of lace-making had been practiced in the country for twenty-five years and that it had been introduced in 1536 by merchants from Venice and other parts of Italy coming to "Germany," which is to say German-speaking countries as is Switzerland in part. She then takes up the introduction of lace-making into Switzerland, its favorable reception—the lucrative nature of the craft apparently being quickly understood—it's rapid increase and improvement, with the workers not only reproducing Italian models, but originating others of their own and finally, at the end, her resolution to impart to others, by means of this pattern book, the sum of her practice and experience, partly to help willing workers who otherwise might not readily come upon beautiful or artistic patterns, but mainly for the "beloved" students who for twelve years in Zurich had been under the tutelage of this anonymous teacher.

The patterns in this early Swiss lace book are geometric in character as were other lace patterns at the time, and it is stated that they followed Italian models. They are made up of a series of bands, more than a hundred and fifty of them, some wide and some narrow, and some finished with little edgings. (Plate II.) They were used first, on the authority of this early writer, solely for the trimming of chemises and shirts, later for collars, cuffs, caps and "fronts" for bodies of dresses and also for household linens, pillow cases, coverlets and other objects of the kind. There was great advantage, it would seem, in replacing by a bit of
lace the elaborate stitchings and puffings that formerly had been necessary for the making of collars and like articles. "One can hardly imagine," says this earnest writer, "the time sewing women consume in making such things."

Lace-making started thus favorably, received a great impetus in the seventeenth century when the revocation in 1685 of the Edict of Nantes brought to Switzerland great numbers of Protestant refugees thus destined to introduce their crafts into other countries. Geneva, for one, profited in the matter of gold and silver guipures which formerly had been so rich a source of revenue to Lyons. According to tradition it was one Symphorien Thelussen, a descendant of a merchant of Lyons escaping in an earlier day to Geneva from the Massacre of St. Bartholomew, who gathered two thousand of these skilled workers into the lace-making industry. Whatever may have the leadership, the enterprise grew to great proportions until it extended from the canton of Vaux in southwestern Switzerland nearly to Basel in the northwest with Neuchâtel as its center. This is a position that was always retained by this cheerful, sunny town with its handsome houses of creamy yellow stone into which their owners' names are carved. The finest laces have been held to come from this region. Other sections that were engaged in lace-making were Poretruy, Fleurens, Couvet and the Lake of Joux. By 1752, according to a census, there were in the canton of Neuchâtel nearly three thousand lace-makers as well as one hundred and twenty-eight spinners of the thread used for the lace.

It was at this time that a pleasant historical note was introduced into the history of lace-making when Jean Jacques Rousseau, another refugee, but mildly so, from the storm caused in France by his political and religious writings, came to Motier in the Val du Travers. Here, by permission of the Prussian governor, since this district at the time belonged to Prussia, he lived from 1762 to 1765 and here he wrote his Lettres écrites de la Montagne. He amused himself during his sojourn by manipulating the fascinating little walnut bobbins of that section. He carried his pillow with him when he went abroad among his neighbors, or, when at home, he sat in his doorway and made lace in the manner of the local inhabitants. His own account in his Confessions of the society in which he found himself was hardly flattering for he says, "I had counselled myself, in order to avoid living like a savage, to learn to make braidings. I carried my cushion, in visiting, wherever I went like the women, to work by my door and converse. That made me support the
PLATE III-A
SWISS BORBIN LACE MADE IN NEUCHÂTEL. LILLE TYPE.

PLATE III-B
SILK BLONDE LACE MADE IN NEUCHÂTEL.
inanities of neighbors; several of whom were friendly enough and did not lack spirit."

By 1780 lace was being exported from Switzerland in great quantities and the workers were earning large sums every year. This vigorous phase of the industry continued well into the nineteenth century, even through the French revolution, with Swiss laces being transported by relays of horses to Spain and Mediterranean countries, thence to be shipped to Mexico and the Antilles for altar trimmings and for personal use. By 1816 lace was being made not only from linen flax but from black and white silk (blonde lace) as well. (Plate III-B.) It was about this year that Mayor Huguenin, mayor of Neuchâtel, testifies as to the variety of types. He describes them as "very wide, very fine and very complicated laces." Part of the flax for Swiss lace-making was cultivated locally, but the finest qualities came from Holland.

In a sudden and unexpected manner, however, this thriving industry that had for so long furnished support to so many parts of the country, virtually came to an end. Mirecourt, in the Dept. of Vosges, where fine and delicate laces long had been made, in order to effect a novelty, changed its patterns. It was a move that met with complete success and affected adversely its formidable rivals, Lille, Geneva and Val-du-Travers. As a result Lille manufacturers lowered their prices and the Swiss lace industry sank. Thus, in 1817, after the fall of Napoleon, and at a time when more Swiss lace-makers were being employed than at any other period, a depression set in.

In an attempt to relieve the situation a company was formed known as the Société Neuchâteloise d'Emulation which hoped to stimulate lace-making by means of prizes. Included in this group were some of the best known Swiss manufacturers: Rosselet frères and Piget frères of Verrières; David Lebet et fils Victor, of Buttes; Bugnon frères of Fleurier; Jeannenand-Besson at Motiers; la Maison Jeanneret at Travers; Besson, H. (père) and D. fils) and Coulin, D. at Couvet as well as Frédéric Duval allied with L. Petitpierre. Prizes of money were offered in 1817, in 1824, when the amount was increased, and again, with higher awards in 1826, but all this was to no general avail. In 1826 another prize was announced, this time to the worker who could invent a new lace ground, clear, strong, regular, differing from all others and difficult for machines to copy. In 1829, eleven new stitches were offered but they were considered no better, or not as good, as was the prevailing ground. In 1830, fourteen more were received but the two
manufacturers and two lace workers who examined them judged them too reminiscent of former stitches and patterns. Then it was decided to try a variation, not of the ground, but of the designs themselves as had been done so successfully at Mirecourt, but when Mélanie Matthey of Crozot, their best designer proved unequal to the task, it spelled the end, not only of the long contest, but of the lace industry itself.

The attempt to devise a novel and effective pattern might be considered by a layman the more difficult in view of the number and variety already existing. In a great album of lace patterns found by chance in a cabinet-maker’s shed at Couvet, near Neuchâtel, and formerly in the possession of Miss Whiting, there are over two thousand examples, all varied and all charming in design. Presumably this album in its day had been the property of one of the leading Swiss lace houses and these were the key or master designs from which lace orders could be taken. Its ultimate discovery in surroundings so foreign to its original purpose was a circumstance that hardly could have been foreseen by its one-time owners. The patterns in this album are all hand drawn on thin, white paper, the net meshes minutely indicated by pricked, not inked, holes. They are numbered and pasted from one to one thousand on the fronts of the pages of the book, crowded close without margins. From one thousand to two thousand two hundred and forty-one they are mounted on the reverse of the pages. They show designs, for the most part, of the late eighteenth century and occasionally they bear corresponding dates; there is, for example, “Chev. Amy, Couvet le 6 Avril, 1796.” (Plate IV-A.) Others are marked with characteristic Swiss names, one, in
PLATE IV-B

DESIGN FOR LACE SIGNED FAIT PAR PETITPIERRE.

PLATE IV-C

LACE PATTERN FROM SWISS PATTERN BOOK.
faded, fine handwriting, a member of the Petitpierre family "fait par Petitpierre." (Plate IV-B.) The book, aside from its value as a treasure house of Swiss lace patterns, is the more important since it offers proof of what actually was being done by the Swiss lace-maker at this particular time.

Later in the nineteenth century when all the attempts of the Société had proved of no avail, various projects were set on foot by others to revive lace-making. In 1840 a factory was established at Geneva for making a kind of Brussels lace called point plat de Bruxelles dite de Genève. This lace, however, tended to thicken with washing and therefore did not succeed. In about 1900 a Swiss lady, Mme. H. H. de Juillien, who had studied in Mexico under a Spanish lace-maker of quality, returned to Neuchâtel bringing with her not only the comfortable Spanish lace pillow, long and cylindrical, capable of being supported against anything solid such as the edge of a table without a special frame and with space on its surface for the working of two lace patterns, but she introduced also a superior system of teaching, whereby two stitches at a time were taught, worked into a simple pattern, then one dropped and another added, thus expanding the pupil's knowledge until she knew the basic principles of a number of stitches rather than the technique of her native province alone. The daughter of this enterprising woman later continued her mother's work and added a school at Lausanne.

More recently an attempt was made at Gruyères in the canton of Fribourg which by 1910 had grown to such encouraging proportions that the Société Dentellière Gruyérienne was founded. Filet work was added to bobbin lace-making and the Association Dentellière de Lauterbrunnen was included to teach lace-making to the women of this valley and keep the art of Switzerland from totally dying out.

These were all commendable attempts, but none of them apparently had the power to revive an industry that had so generally perished. Today there is no bobbin lace-making in Switzerland with the exception of certain private activities. The lace industry that had progressed so steadily since the days of its foundation never recovered from the disintegration that took place in the early years of the nineteenth century.

A charmingly sympathetic account of lace-making as it was practiced in the Jura mountains about the middle of the nineteenth century is given by a writer who still remembers in a later era a childhood when nearly every family of her acquaintance had an aunt or a grandmother who
PLATE V

LACE FROM THE VAL DU TRAVERS SHOWING PATTERN (PRICKING), PINS AND ROBBINS, FROM THE AUTHOR'S COLLECTION.

This fine and silky thread, used in Neuchâtel before the French revolution, survives today only in Cambray where the flax is still raised and spun.
was a lace-maker. She pictures, in a scene that she says can hardly have changed in sixty or eighty years, the little hamlets scattered through the high mountain valleys with their low, one-storied houses with great sloping roofs facing south to receive all the sunshine possible in this cold country. (Endpiece.) In these houses, which were built to one plan, with a narrow corridor separating the family quarters from those of the barn-yard and a great kitchen at the end with an immense chimney where a pig could be roasted, the principal room was the chambre in which the family congregated. This room, well kept and cheery, was flooded with light and sun and warmed by a monumental faience stove patterned with pictures of the hunt, mythology or sacred history. Between the stove, which projected into the room, and the wall, was a niche called a cachet with a stone bench heated at the same time as the stove. This, with reason, was known in the canton of Vaud as “the good corner.” Here also was a huge bed hung with curtains and so smoothly made under its stitched counterpane that it looked like an exhibition piece never to be used.

The feature of the room was the wide windows where there was room not only for the women to work but for a large shelf for the watching implements of the men, who, with practiced fingers, pricked the designs for the lace on the dull green Bristol board that had replaced the parchment of earlier days. The lace pillows, for the most part, were square with bollets or moveable blocks that held the pattern and which could be placed or displaced as the work advanced. (Plate IV-A.) In the depths of this pillow, which was covered with a material of the same soft green as the Bristol board model, were three or four small drawers for thread and pins.

The lace like that made generally throughout Switzerland seems to have been of the Lille type with a design of flowers and leaves outlined with a cordonnet and with the little square dots found in Lille lace. The ground was the fond clair, the six-sided mesh with two threads crossed and four twisted that is characteristic of Lille. (Plate III-A.) Blonde laces also were made, both black and white, and a variety of stitches were used; fond de niege, fond à la vierge, fond de mariage, point d'esprit and a stitch that was called “claret.” A narrow lace, made in other centers as well, was “mignonette” favored because of its light character.

---

PLATE VI-A
SWISS LACE PILLOW WITH BOLLETS.
From the author's collection.

PLATE VI-B
LACEMAKER'S LAMP. COURTESY OF MRS. JESSE METCALF.
and clear ground for headdresses and trimmings. It was very popular in France during the Empire.

When the outdoor light failed, the workers formed a circle in the center of the room and continued by the light of the lacemaker's lamp. This was a stand, sometimes prettily carved, supporting a board pierced with holes in each of which was inserted a stemmed globe — perhaps five or six in all — each as large as a goldfish bowl, filled with blue-tinged water and closed at the top with a cork. In the center was placed a candle or lamp and the light passing through the globe formed luminous rays which, directed upon the cushion of the worker, gave a soft, clear light. (Plate VI-B.)

These pleasant gatherings, where news of the village was combined with deft work by skilled fingers, were frequented by the young men of the locality who might read to the company from the weekly newspapers subscribed to in common by the villagers and passed from neighbor to neighbor. The company joined also in the good singing and the part songs which these mountaineers, with an innate sense of music executed sometimes without the knowledge technically of a single note of music. At the end of the evening there was a simple offering of oranges and nuts and at ten o'clock everyone went home.

In these districts where lace was too costly for personal wear, and moreover was a source of revenue, it was disposed of to local agents who undertook its collection and sale, at fairs at Beaucaire and Leipzig, bringing back large orders and new models. One courageous woman in the Jura mountains, a widow with several children, undertook for a livelihood such a trade. She collected her laces, which were brought to her from the countryside in the spring, paying well for them, and journeyed with her various and divers boxes in a large traveling berline to France to the Fair of Beaucaire, taking with her as sole protector one confidential servant. Her lace was eagerly awaited and she sold it with ease and dispatch, returning with new orders for the workers. Her heroic and beneficial efforts were long remembered in after years and her lace models which are in the museum of Neuchâtel have commanded high praise. But these pleasant activities and undertakings were themselves suddenly to vanish. The introduction of machine lace and the flight westward of watchmaking, with its essential processes already made known to others, in a few years made for the ruin of bobbin-lace making. The art was finally abandoned and the pillows and models were burned.
All through the lace-making centers of the Swiss countryside, Le Locle, La Chaux-de-Fonds, Aux Ponts, Neuchâtel, le Val-du-Ruz, Val de Travers, Valangin, Fleurier, Couvet, Bois-de-Crois, la Brévine, Bois-de-la-Halle, Aux Eplatures, Aux Verrières, Begnins, Geneva and all the pretty spots between, watchmaking and bobbin lace work prospered for many years. Here untiringly for twenty centimes a day, by tallow lamps after dark, worked the more industrious; here in the evenings the young gathered to work, sing and enjoy their simple refreshments; here dexterously plied their bobbins the secretive, gossiping elders with their lace-wakes and waffle-wakes held behind closed doors. Here the Suzette Lehnards, the Aimé Othenin-Girards, the Uranie Roberts, the Louis-Sylvains, the Adeline Cuendets, the Cecile Tattets, the Lucie Bobilliers, the Zelie Perrin-Montandons, the Lambelet-Colombs, the Zelie Hugenins, the Rosalie Jeanneret-Vauchers, the Jenneret-Riepkes, all skilled lace-makers, here they had produced their beautiful clarets, filettes and blondes, a pleasant and industrious company, all of them now vanished and remaining today only as part of a legend.
CLUB NOTES

The January meeting of the present year was held, through the courtesy of Mrs. Ancell H. Ball, in the Small Ballroom of the Colony Club, 51 East 62nd Street, on the twenty-fourth of the month at three o'clock. The speaker for this first meeting was Mr. Alan Priest, Curator of Far Eastern Art at the Metropolitan Museum of Art, whose subject, heard by an attentive audience, was Chinese Court Robes.

Through the kind invitation of Mrs. George H. Ingalls, the Annual Meeting of the Club was held at her apartment, 350 Park Avenue on the afternoon of Thursday, February twenty-fourth, at three o'clock. Mrs. Jean Reed, Assistant in charge of Costume at the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston, spoke with effect on the fine costumes contained in the Elizabeth Day McCormick Collection owned by the Boston Museum.

On Monday, March twenty-first, at three o'clock, the Club members, through the hospitality of Mrs. William R. Mercer, again had the pleasure of meeting in the Small Ballroom of the Colony Club to hear Mr. John Vasson, Founder-President and Fellow of the American Designers' Institute, speak on the subject Knowledge of the Past Free Frees the Designer of Today, with illustrations furnished by slides of modern painting.

At the meeting held on April twenty-first, at three o'clock, at the apartment of Mrs. A. Victor Barnes, 79 East 79th Street, Mrs. Albert C. Koch spoke with charm and originality on References to Dress in Trollope's Novels, illustrating the fashions of that time by means of contemporary prints, books and other literary material of the day.
The first meeting of the autumn season took the form this year of a Bring and Buy Sale for the benefit of the Bulletin. It was held, again owing to the generous hospitality of Miss E. Mabel Clark, at her house, 831 Madison Avenue, on Wednesday afternoon, November twenty-third, from twelve until six o'clock. Through the efforts of those who arranged for the sale and members and friends who participated, both in the donation and purchase of the objects contributed, a comfortable sum was realized.

On December thirteenth, hospitality was extended to the Club by two members, Mrs. Frank B. Rowell and Mrs. Horace M. Martin, 39 East 79th Street. The meeting itself was held in the apartment of Mrs. Rowell with Dr. Phyllis Ackerman as the speaker, whose dramatic subject, The Great Royal Persian Silks of the 10th to the 13th Century, was listened to with the closest attention by an interested audience. This was followed by a delightful tea which was given by Mrs. Martin in her apartment in the same house.
THE NEEDLE AND BOBBIN CLUB

OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
1949

PRESIDENT
MRS. FRANK B. ROWELL

FIRST VICE-PRESIDENT
MISS MARIAN HAGUE

SECOND VICE-PRESIDENT
MISS FRANCES MORRIS

TREASURER
MISS MILDRED MCCORMICK

SECRETARY
MISS MARY S. M. GIBSON

EDITOR OF THE BULLETIN
MRS. WILLIAM NELSON LITTLE
167 East 82nd Street

CLASS OF 1950
MRS. FRANK B. ROWELL
MISS MARIAN HAGUE
MRS. WILLIAM S. EDGAR

CLASS OF 1951
MISS HARRIET PHILIPS BRONSON
MISS MILDRED MCCORMICK
MISS GERTRUDE WHITING
MRS. A. BENSON CANNON

CLASS OF 1952
MISS FRANCES MORRIS
MRS. WILLIAM NELSON LITTLE
MRS. JOHN GERDES
MISS MARY M. S. GIBSON

HONORARY DIRECTOR
MRS. ROBERT COLEMAN TAYLOR